
 

Zoning Board of Adjustment October 7, 2020 Page 1 of 2 

Zoning Board of Adjustment Agenda 
Bastrop City Hall 
1311 Chestnut Street 
Bastrop, TX 78602 
 
This meeting will be live streamed via GoToWebinar.  If you would like to watch or participate and 
ask a question during the meeting, on a smart device using the GoToWebinar App (looks like this 
) and use Webinar ID 369-254-171 to join the meeting, or log onto  
the web at https://attendee.gotowebinar.com/register/4370257864229764108 
 

Agenda – October 7, 2020 at 6:00 P.M. 
 

City of Bastrop Zoning Board of Adjustment meetings are available to all persons regardless of 
disability.  If you require special assistance, please contact the Planning Department at (512) 332-
8840 or write 1311 Chestnut Street, 78602, or emailing plan@cityofbastrop.org or by calling through 
a T.D.D. (Telecommunication Device for the Deaf) to Relay Texas at 1-800-735-2989 at least 48 hours 
in advance of the meeting. 

  

As authorized by Section 551.071 of the Texas Government Code, this meeting may be 
convened into closed Executive Session for the purposes of seeking confidential legal advice 
from the City Attorney on any item on the agenda at any time during the meeting. 

The City of Bastrop reserves the right to reconvene, recess, or realign the Regular Session or 
called Executive Session or order of business at any time prior to adjournment. 

 
1. CALL TO ORDER  

 
2. CITIZEN COMMENTS 

 
Please Note: Anyone wishing to address the Board may provide comments with full 
name, address, phone number submitted to  plan@cityofbastrop.org before 4:30 P.M. 
on October 7, 2020.  Submitted comments will be read aloud at the meeting.  Comments 
from each individual will be limited to three (3) minutes when read aloud.  Otherwise the 
public can log into  https://www.gotomeeting.com/webinar/join-webinar on the web or on 
a smart device using the GoToWebinar App (looks like this ) and use webinar ID 
369-254-171 to join the meeting.  

Comments will be heard from the audience on any topic not listed on the agenda, not to 
exceed three (3) minutes in length.  In accordance with the Texas Open Meetings Act, 
if a citizen discusses any item not on the agenda, the Board cannot discuss issues raised 
or make any decision at this time.  Issues may be referred to City Staff for research and 
possible future action. 

 





 

 
 

STAFF REPORT 
 

MEETING DATE:   October 7, 2020      AGENDA ITEM: 3A 
 
TITLE:   
Consider action to approve meeting minutes from the August 5, 2020 Zoning Board of Adjustment 
Meeting. 
 
STAFF REPRESENTATIVE: 
Vivianna Nicole Hamilton, Planning Technician  
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
Meeting Minutes  
 



Zoning Board of Adjustments 
August 5, 2020 Meeting Minutes 

 

Zoning Board of Adjustments Minutes  August 5, 2020 Page 1 of 3 
 

The City of Bastrop Zoning Board of Adjustments met Wednesday, August 5, 2020 at 6:00 p.m. 
online. 
 
1. CALL TO ORDER  
  
Patrick Connell called the meeting to order at 6:00 p.m.   
 
Patrick Connell  Present 
Gary Moss   Present 
Jimmy Crouch  Present 
Scot Robichaud Present  
 
2. CITIZEN COMMENTS  
 
There were no citizen comments.  
 
3. ITEMS FOR INDIVIDUAL CONSIDERATION  

 
3A.  Consider action to approve meeting minutes from the May 6, 2020 Zoning Board of 

Adjustment Meeting. 
 

Jimmy Crouch made a motion to recommended approval of the May 6, 2020 meeting minutes. 
Gary Moss seconded the motion and the motion carried unanimously.  

 
3B.  Public Hearing and consider action for the expansion of a Non-Conforming Site to add 

a 100-foot monopole communication tower at the same site of an existing 450-foot radio 
tower with adjacent equipment buildings, on 10.223 acres of Bastrop Town Tract A11, 
located at 2575 Cedar Street, within the City Limits of the City of Bastrop, Texas. 

 
Jennifer Bills presented the information distributed in the Zoning Board of Adjustment Agenda 
Packet. She discussed the history of the site and the previous cell towers at that location.  
 
Jennifer Bills discussed with the Board the notifications City Staff had sent out for the public 
hearing, and that a letter received from one of the surrounding property owners. Jennifer Bills 
stated Staff was recommending approval of the tower with the following conditions:  
 

1. Applicant would Execute a Development Agreement with the City for the following:  
 

a. Any future development beyond the scope approved by the Zoning Board of 
Adjustment will come into compliance with all Bastrop Building Block (B³) in effect 
at time of development.  

 
b. Dedication of half (27.78 feet) of the right-of-way for Cedar Street along the 

northern property line.  
 



Zoning Board of Adjustments 
August 5, 2020 Meeting Minutes 

 

Zoning Board of Adjustments Minutes  August 5, 2020 Page 2 of 3 
 

c. The development process will be limited to the following with full review fees paid: 
Minor Plat with the right-of way dedication; Site Development Plan; and Building 
Permits. 

 
The letter from the property owner at 2575 Cedar Street, Kristine Dugan, was read aloud for the 
record.  
 
The Board discussed the purpose for the tower, which is to improve 911 communications.  
 
Patrick Connell opened the Public Hearing.  
 
The property owner at 2575 Cedar Street, Kristine Dugan, addressed the Board and further 
discussed her concerns that she listed in her letter. The Board asked if she would be more 
amenable to the proposed tower if a condition was put into place that ensured it would only be 
used for an emergency tower. She replied she would.  
 
The property owner at 2575 Cedar Street, Matt Dugan, spoke before the Board stating he was 
not in favor of the proposed cell tower being placed on the adjacent property.  
 
Patrick Connell closed the Public Hearing.  
 
Discussion commenced between the Board and the Applicant (Steven Long). He answered 
questions for the Board including: explaining the reason for the request is because the current 
tower their equipment is one is at max capacity, the proposed timeline (2-3 years) to acquire                                                                                   
a new tower location which would be owned by the County so they could permanently move their 
equipment to their own site, the logistics for the monopole being proposed on the current tower 
site, the dedication of Right-Of-Way between the City and the Property Owner, and the removal 
of the proposed monopole from the property in the future. 
 
Further discussion commenced among the Board.  
 
Scot Robichaud made a motion to recommend approval for the expansion of a Non-Conforming 
Site to add a 100-foot monopole communication tower at the same site of an existing 450-foot 
radio tower with adjacent equipment buildings, on 10.223 acres of Bastrop Town Tract A11, 
located at 2575 Cedar Street, within the City Limits of the City of Bastrop, Texas with the following 
requirements: 
 

1. Any future development beyond the scope approved by the Zoning Board of Adjustment 
will come into compliance with all Bastrop Building Block (B³) Code Requirements in effect 
at time of development,  

2. The property owner will be required to dedicate half (27.78 feet) of the right-of-way for 
Cedar Street along the northern property line, 

3. The development process will be limited to the following with full review fees paid: Minor 
Plat with the right-of way dedication; Site Development Plan; and Building Permits, 



Zoning Board of Adjustments 
August 5, 2020 Meeting Minutes 

 

Zoning Board of Adjustments Minutes  August 5, 2020 Page 3 of 3 
 

4. There will be no more than two dishes with supporting infrastructure allowed to be placed 
on the monopole, 

5. The applicant is allowed to use this location for the monopole for five years starting on 
August 5, 2020, if the monopole is still operational in five years the applicant will need to 
come back before the Zoning Board of Adjustments to obtain approval for a continuance 
of use of the monopole at that location; and 

6. The Applicant must have the monopole to completely removed from the site if they relocate 
their emergency communication to a new site prior to the five-year timeline set forth by the 
Zoning Board of Adjustments. 
 

Gary Moss seconded the motion and the motion carried unanimously.  
 
3C.  Public Hearing and consider action to deny variances from the Bastrop Building Block 

(B³) Code, Chapter 8 – Sign, Article 8.3 (c) Band Signs for the number of signs, sign 
height, and letter height exceeding the maximums, on Beck, NHP & Prokop Subdivision, 
Section Two, Lot 1, located at 510 State Highway 71, within the City Limits of the City of 
Bastrop, Texas. 

 
Jennifer Bills presented the information distributed in the Zoning Board of Adjustment Agenda 
Packet. 
 
Some of the topics discussed included; if there was a meter sign code in place on the property 
(there is not), the transition between sign codes during the course of the project, the signage 
previously proposed by the applicant in their Conditional Use Permit Application, and the different 
sign allowances in each code. 
 
Jennifer stated at this time Staff was not recommending approval of the variance requests: 
 

1.  To allow an increased number of allowed signs;  
2.  Increase the total square footage of sign allowed; 
3.  Increase the overall allowed height; and  
4.  Increase the letter height on each sign. 

 
Matt Mathis, the Applicant, presented to the Board his rebuttal against the points stated by Staff 
as to why they were choosing to not recommend approval of the signs. His main point being he 
should be allowed utilize some of the former signage allowances in the sign previous code, which 
was in place when he started the project and had designed most of his signage according to the 
allowance in that code, and to accommodate the visibility reduction of this location due to the 
construction of the adjacent ER building.  
 
The Board asked Jennifer if there would be a future plan to address the signage allowances in 
the new code for properties along the major thoroughfares, she sated this was currently in review 
with the Planning and Zoning Commission to determine if any changes need to be adopted.  
 
 
Patrick Connell opened the Public Hearing.  
 



Zoning Board of Adjustments 
August 5, 2020 Meeting Minutes 

 

Zoning Board of Adjustments Minutes  August 5, 2020 Page 4 of 3 
 

There were no comments from the public. 
 
Patrick Connell closed the Public Hearing.  
 
The Board stated the Applicant meet the following variance criteria: 

1. Special or unique hardship because of the visibility of the property from public roads; 
2. Hardship claim based on the physical features uniquely affecting the property on which a 

Sign is to be located; 
3. Proposed Sign location, configuration, design, materials and colors are harmonious and 

work with the purpose of the intended location on Highway 71; 
4. The Sign and its supporting structure is in architectural harmony with the surrounding 

Structures. 
5. Mitigation measures related to the Sign in question or other Signs on the same Premises 

by not having a pylon built on the site and a monument sign not greater that six feet; 
6. Demonstrated and documented correlation between the Variance and protecting the 

public health and safety is met by allowing the business to advertise in a manner that 
allows traffic time to safely access their site. 

 
The Board stated for the record they wanted to make clear, due to the Applicant being caught 
between the old sign code when they started their project, and the newly adopted B3 Sign Code 
once they decided to apply for their sign, is the basis behind why the Zoning Board of Adjustments 
decided to make a  compromise with the Applicant regarding their variance request. The Board 
also stated the concerns from the Applicant relating to life safety and traffic had also been factored 
into the basis behind their decision. 
 
Jimmy Crouch made a motion to approve the variance and  allow the Applicant to provide the 
signage as follows: the east side of the building as proposed but constructed as a non-illuminated 
sign with the size and color as proposed acceptable, signage on the front of the building facing 
north as proposed which will be illuminated in accordance with the recommendations made by 
the Development Review Committee Warrant, the proposed signage on the East side of the 
structure  as is with the exception that the signage will be reduced in size by 25%, the monument 
sign or pylon sign limited to 6 ft. in height. Garry Moss seconded the motion and the motion carried 
unanimously.  
 
4.  ADJOURNMENT 
 
Scot Robichaud made a motion to adjourn at 8:43 p.m.. Jimmy Crouch seconded the motion, and 
the motion carried unanimously.  

 

_______________________ 
Chair 
 
_______________________ 
Vice-Chair 



 
 

 

Page 1 of 5 
 

STAFF REPORT 

 
MEETING DATE:  October 7, 2020        AGENDA ITEM:  3B 
 
TITLE:  
Public Hearing and consider action on variances from the Bastrop Building Block (B³) Code, 
Chapter 8 – Signs, Article 8.3 (c) Band Signs for the number of signs, sign height, letter height 
exceeding the maximums, and continued use of the existing non-conforming internally illuminated 
pole sign on Bastrop West Commercial, Section 2, Lot 3B Resubivision, located at 484 (previously 
490) State Highway 71, within the City Limits of the City of Bastrop, Texas. 
 
STAFF REPRESENTATIVE:  
Jennifer C. Bills, AICP, LEED AP, Assistant Planning Director 
 
ITEM DETAILS: 
Site Address: 484 State Highway 71 (Attachment 1) 
Total Acreage: 0.4590 acres 
Legal Description: Bastrop West Commercial, Sec 2, Lot 3B(resub) 
  
Property Owner: Bastrop NNW LLC 
Agent Contact: Thomas Mathias, Cottonwood Financial 
  
Existing Use: Retail Store 
Existing Place Type Zoning: P-5 Core 
Character District: District 71 
Future Land Use: General Commercial 
  
 
BACKGROUND/HISTORY: 
The applicant is requesting a number of variances from the Bastrop Building Block (B³) Code – 
Chapter 8 Signs.  The site location was previously the Payless Shoe Source store that has been 
vacant since the company went out of business in 2018.   The property owner began working with 
the applicant to occupy the space in 2019 and did reach out to staff to ask questions about the 
existing sign code in August 2019 but did not submit any application until June 2020.  Due to 
codification errors, both the previous code and the B³ are accessible from the website (Attachment 
2).  Considering the long-lead time on leasing the property and miscommunication of the sign 
code, the Sign Administrator is recommending that the applicant be granted the variances to the 
existing code to the specifications of the previous code in Article 3.20 – Signs (Attachment 4) that 
were in effect prior to November 12, 2019. 
 
REQUESTED SIGN VARIANCES 
Band Signs – Previously Wall Signs (Attachment 4) 
The previous code allowed for signage to be calculated on the façade with the primary entrance.  
The applicant will be moving the primary entrance from the north side of the building to the west 
side, which would allow up to 90.625 square feet on the entrance façade or 113.28 square foot of 
signage split between multiple facades with vehicular traffic.  In this case the applicant is 
requesting one sign on the north façade (facing State Highway 71) of 53.21 square feet and south 



 
 

 

Page 2 of 5 
 

façade (facing Walmart) of 53.96 square feet for a total of 107.17.  The previous code did not 
include total sign or letter height maximums. The Policy Explanation summarizes the variances 
from the current B³ Code.  
 
Reuse of Existing Signs 
The B³ Code requires all signs on site to come into compliance with the new code.  The applicant 
is requesting to reface and reuse the existing pylon with internal illumination instead of converting 
to external lighting as required by the B³ Code.  
 
The applicant’s request letter provides their justification for variance criteria required by Section 
8.2.003 (Attachment 2). 
 
PUBLIC NOTIFICATION:  
Notifications were mailed to 5 adjacent property owners on September 18, 2020.  At the time of 
this report, two comments have been received if favor of the variance request (Attachment 5). 
 
POLICY EXPLANATION: 
The Bastrop Building Block (B³) Code was adopted on November 12, 2019 and include Chapter 
8 Signs.  The applicant is asking for a variance to the following standards (Attachment 6): 
 
Article 8.3 On-Premise Sign Type & Standards  
Table c) Band Signs 

Specification 
a. Quantity: 1 max. (2 for corner buildings) 

 
The applicant is requesting 2 Band Signs, one on the front façade, one on the rear 
façade. 
 

b. Area 1. 5 sf per linear ft of Façade 
 

The front façade of the building is 38.6 feet, which would allow for 57.9 square feet 
of signage.  The applicant is requesting 107.16 square feet of Band Sign area for 
total for the two signs. 
 

c. d. Height:  3 ft max. 
 

The applicant is requesting the overall sign height be increased from the 3-foot 
max to 3 feet, 5.5 inches for the rear sign.  The front sign is within max height 
requirement. 

 
h.  Letter Height: 18 in. max. 
 

Within the 3-foot signs, the individual lettering cannot exceed 18 inches in height.   
The applicant is requesting 27.5-inch letters for the front sign, and letters up to 22 
inches in the rear sign. 
 

Section 8.1.011 Sign Permit Requirements (m) 6 
(6) Before any permit may be issued for a new Sign under this chapter, the Responsible 

Party shall modify or remove any of its own nonconforming Signs and Sign structures 
displayed or erected on the same property that the permit is being sought, so that all 
the Signs and Sign structures they are responsible for on the property conform to the 
provisions of this chapter. This provision does not apply to real estate Signs, banners, 



 
 

 

Page 3 of 5 
 

temporary Signs, or Sidewalk Signs. This provision does not apply to nonconforming 
Signs with a Variance. 

 
The applicant is requesting to reface the existing pylon sign and continue to use it in 
its current configuration. 

 
8.4.001 (a) Banner signs.  

The banner sign requirements in the B³ are the same as within the previous Article 3.20. 
No variance necessary. 
 

Article 8.3 i) Window Sign 
a. Quantity: 1 per window max.  
b. Area: 25% coverage per window  
c. Width: n/a  
d. Height: n/a  
e. Depth / Projection: n/a  
f. Clearance: 4 FT min.  
g. Apex: n/a  
h. Letter Height: 8 in max. 
 
The applicant is requesting one sign per window.  The letters are proposed at 4 inches. 
No window measurements have been provided but the signs do not appear to exceed 
25% of the area.  If the applicant wishes to follow the previous code that does not limit 
letter height, then they will be limited to 10% of the total window area. 

 

Section 8.2.003 Variances 
(d) The ZBA may decide, subject to appropriate conditions, and only after a finding 
based on the evidence presented that strict compliance with the requirements of this 
Code will result in substantial undue hardship, sufficient mitigation, or inequity to the 
applicant without sufficient corresponding benefit to the City and its citizens in 
accomplishing the objectives of this Chapter. 
 
The Sign Administrator and ZBA shall consider: 
 
(1) Special or unique hardship because of the size or shape of the property on 

which the Sign is to be located, or the visibility of the property from public roads. 
 
The site is located within an already established shopping center with internal 
drive aisle and existing larger wall signs. 
 

(2) Hardship claim based on the exceptional topographic conditions or physical 
features uniquely affecting the property on which a Sign is to be located. 
 
The applicant has included information in their justification letter that for the road 
speed, building location, and location of adjacent buildings and signs that 
allowing larger signage will allow for better visibility for motorist. 
 

(3) Proposed Sign location, configuration, design, materials and colors are 
harmonious. 

 



 
 

 

Page 4 of 5 
 

The signs are compatible with the existing buildings and signs in the area. As 
buildings and sites redevelop, signage will need to come into compliance with 
the code at that time. 
 

(4) The Sign and its supporting structure is in architectural harmony with the 
surrounding Structures. 

 
The signs will be wall mounted, with no visible rails, which meets the intent of 
the B³ Code. 
 

(5) Mitigation measures related to the Sign in question or other Signs on the same 
Premises. 

 
No mitigation is required for size variances in this instance as all signage will be 
appropriately located on the building façade and the pylon is not being 
expanded. 

 
(6) Demonstrated and documented correlation between the Variance and 

protecting the public health and safety. 
 
The proposed signage does not provide any detriment to public health and 
safety and will be easily visible for motorists without being distracting. 
 

(7) Whether the Sign could have been included in a Master Sign Plan. Master Sign 
plans are highly encouraged. The City will be more inclined to favorably 
consider a Variance request when the Variance is part of a Master Sign Plan. 
There will be a presumption against granting variances piecemeal, ad hoc, on 
a case-by-case basis when the Sign for which a Variance is sought could have 
been included in a Master Sign Plan and considered in the course of a 
comprehensive review of the entire Project’s signage. 

 
A Master Sign Plan is appropriate in this instance. 
 

(8) The Sign Administrator may authorize the remodeling, renovation, or alteration 
of a Sign when some nonconforming aspect of the Sign is thereby reduced. 
 
Not applicable. 

  



 
 

 

Page 5 of 5 
 

 
RECOMMENDATION: 
The Sign Administrator agrees with the applicant’s request to follow the previous Sign Code in 
effect before the adoption of the Bastrop Building Block Code.   
 
Hold public hearing and consider action to approve variances from the Bastrop Building Block 
(B³) Code, Chapter 8 – Signs, Article 8.3 (c) Band Signs for the number of signs, sign height, letter 
height exceeding the maximums, and continued use of the existing non-conforming internally 
illuminated pole sign on Bastrop West Commercial, Section 2, Lot 3B Resubivision, located at 
484 (previously 490) State Highway 71, within the City Limits of the City of Bastrop, Texas. 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 

· Attachment 1:  Location Map 
· Attachment 2:  Letter from Applicant 
· Attachment 3:  Requested Band Signs 
· Attachment 4:  Article 3.20 – Sign effective in 2018-2019 
· Attachment 5:  Notice to Property Owners 
· Attachment 6:  Bastrop Building Block (B³) Code Sign Requirement 



¬«71

¬«71

W SH 71 FR

AGNES ST

HOSPITAL DR

W SH 71 FR

W SH 71 FR

Attachment 1
Location Map

¬«71

¬«15
0

¬«71
W SH 71 FR

AGNES ST

HASLER ST

PERKINS ST

C
H

IL
D

ER
S 

D
R

MAYNARD ST

JONES

ESKEW
 ST HIGGINS ST

HOSPITAL DR

MARIE ST

W SH 71 FR

W SH 71 FR

1 inch = 150 feet
0 100 20050

Feet

Date: 9/17/2020
The accuracy and precision of this cartographic
data is limited and should be used for information
/planning purposes only.  This data does not 
replace surveys conducted by registered Texas
land surveyors nor does it constitute an "official"
verification of zoning, land use classification, or
 other classification set forth in local, state, or
federal regulatory processes. The City of Bastrop,
nor any of its employees, do not make any warranty
of merchantability and fitness for particular purpose,
 or assumes any legal liablity or responsibility for the 
accuracy, completeness or usefullness of any such
information, nor does it represent that its use would
not infringe upon privately owned rights.     ³

Cash Store
Signage



Sign Administrator 
c/o Jennifer C. Bills, AICP, LEED AP 
Assistant Planning Director 
City of Bastrop, TX 

 
Re: Project Description Letter – 490-B W. SH-71, Bastrop, TX 

Cottonwood financial has been working towards opening a new branch located at 490-B Hwy 71 in 
Bastrop, TX since early 2019. 

We would like to proceed with this project however during the time of initial presentation and final 
lease, the city of Bastrop made significant changes to their ordinance.  This new code labeled “B3” was 
placed on the planning and development page within cityofbastrop.org.  However, when you go to that 
page the B3 is not listed at the top, you must scroll down to see a link to it.  But there is a link at the top 
that lists Code of Ordinances which takes you to Municode website where article 3.20 -SIGNS is still 
listed as active.  There is no text crossed out and nothing to indicate that that condition in article 3.20 – 
SIGNS no longer applies. 

The first hint of the new ordinance to Cottonwood and the landlord came as a casual comment from a 
representative of the city planning department in a July 9th conference call about the city’s requirement 
of a sidewalk installation and a green area in front of the store in lieu of three existing parking spaces in 
front of the store (which the landlord has agreed to do at the landlord’s expense).  At that time, it was 
asked if we could get approval on the signage.  The comment was made “you are not even close”. 

It wasn’t until July 20th, 2020 When the first planning review of signage came back and was pointing 
towards “B3”, city planning Technician And GIS specialist Vivianna Nicole Andres replied on 7/20/20 that 
the code was adopted “at the end of last year, we have not gotten the Municode updated to reflect this 
change yet.”   

We are now being asked to change the planned signage for a project that has been ongoing since early 
2019 to a code that was not readily available to us. 

 We hereby request a variance and relief. 

 
In addition, please consider the proposed sign variance (Article 8.3.(c)) for the additional following 
reasons: 

1.  The subject site is located on eastbound frontage of Highway 71. The west elevation of the 
building is blocked completely until you are right on in by the neighboring property parcel ID 
75204.  Neighboring property is only approximately 20’ from subject property. In addition, 
traveling along that section of Hwy 71 there are significantly larger pole signs and billboard 
reducing the effectiveness of the existing pole sign on site. 

2.  This building is 36.5’ wide.  The speed of traffic on this road is 40mph.  A vehicle traveling 40 
mph is moving at over 58 feet per second, meaning it takes less than 1 second for it to pass a 
building of 36'5' in length,  render the allowable 18’ maximum letters on the face of the building 
unreadable and useless. 



3. Proposed sign locations, configurations and design are harmonious to the area.  Within a 19 acre 
development area there are 23 businesses and 29 illuminating channel letters signs (3 of these 
signs are actually cabinets made to look like channel letters and 1 is simply a cabinet sign).  6 of 
these are on background panels like the design for Cash Store.  See attached list of surrounding 
businesses and the amount and style of signage they have. 

5.  All the signs on the premises will be of consistent design and color providing a professional 
appearance to the property. 

6.  Granting the variance will allow for easily legible signage which has a direct correlation to the 
safety of both pedestrians and auto traffic.  Traveling East on the frontage of Hwy 71 at 40mph, 
the proposed pylon sign has 22” letters.  The distance for Easy Readability (average) of 22” 
letters is 220’.  The very maximum with no obstructions (other vehicles, other signs) is 550’.   
The distance from the first entrance to the center is approximately 209’.   

 Best case scenario is a vehicle can see that sign at 550’.  Subtract the distance from where they 
would need to make the turn from when they saw the sign at 550’ you get 330’ to react and 
make that turn.  330’ at 58’ per second only allows 5.5 seconds of reaction time to hit the 
brakes, move to the right lane.  Drivers will hit brakes hard, and change lanes causing a danger 
to the public.   

 There is a second drive however that is approximately 370’ from the pylon sign allowing an 
additional approximate 6 seconds to slow change lanes, should an accident not have occurred 
with missing the first driveway.  

7.  The signs are part of a master sign plan for Cash Store locations nationwide and are 
registered trademark with United States Patent and Trademark Office. 
 

 

 

 

 

Sincerely, 
 
 
 
Thomas Mathias 
Managing Director of Real Estate 
Cottonwood Financial 
1901 Gateway Drive, Suite 200 
Irving, Texas 75038 
214.642.0229 (Cell) 
972.753.0822 ext. 1225 (Office) 
 



Supplement Project Description Letter – 490-B W. SH-71 Bastrop, TX 

List of surrounding properties and respective signage. 

1. Holiday Inn Express  
• 2 large sets of illuminated channel letters  and logo 
• 1 very large pylon sign. 

2. Guadalajara Mexican Restaurant.  
• 1 large set of illuminated channel letters. 

3. Advance American Cash Advance 
• 1 set of illuminated channel letters 

4. Great Nails 
• 1 set of Illuminated channel letters 

5. Mail & Signs 
• 1 set of Illuminated channel letters 

6. Radio Shack 
• 1 set of Illuminated channel letters 

7. Sprint 
• 1 set of Illuminated channel letters 

8. GNC 
• 1 set of Illuminated channel letters, and cabinet subcapsule 

9. Super Cuts 
• 1 set of Illuminated channel letters 

10. Schlotzsky’s 
• 2 large sets of illuminated channel letters on a panel (similar design)  
• A Cinabon cabinet 
• 1 very large and tall pylon 

11. Verizon 
• 2 large sets of illuminated channel letters 
• Billboard 

12. GameStop 
• 2 large sets of illuminated channel letters 
• 1 panel on large shared pylon 

13. T-Mobile 
• 1 large set of illuminated channel letters on a panel (similar design) 
• 1 panel on large shared pylon 

14. Aarons 
• 2 large cabinet signs made to look like channel letters.  
• 4 sets of non illuminated letters approx. 18” tall. 
• 1 pylon appox same size as the one we are proposing to reface. 

15. Riverwood Medical Clinic 
• 2 sets of illuminated channel letters 

16. SportClips 
• 1 set of illuminated channel letters on a panel (similar design) 



17. Fred Loya Insurance 
• 1 set of illuminated channel letters 

18. The UPS Store 
• 1 set of illuminate channel letters on a panel (similar design) 

19. Papa John’s 
• 1 set of illuminate channel letters on a panel (similar design) with a logo cabinet 

mounted as well. 
20. Mattress One 

• 1 set of Large illuminated channel letters on a panel (similar design) 
21. Subway 

• 1 illuminated cabinet sign made to look like channel letters 
22. Woodforest 

• 1 illuminated cabinet sign 
23. Wal Mart 

• 1 large illuminated channel letters with accompanying logo 
• 3 sets non illuminated letters OVERY 18” tall. 
• 1 large pylon 

 

 

 

 

















Article 3.2 – Signs 

Sec. 3.20.015 - Standards for permanent signs  

 

(2)  Building wall signs.  

(A)  The maximum sign area shall be a ratio of the linear footage of the primary facade of the 
building in accordance with section 3.20.016.  

 

Illustration 3.20.015(2)(A) 

(B)  Only one building facade with a primary entrance may be used to calculate wall signage.  

 

Illustration 3.20.015(2)(B) 

(C)  No wall sign shall extend above the roofline or parapet of the building to which the sign is 
attached.  



(D)  No building wall signs are permitted at a location higher than the second story sill level, or 
on or above the cornice line of any building.  

(E)  For buildings having multiple tenants, the allowable area shall be based on the individual 
frontage of each tenant.  

(F)  Directory wall signs are permitted as incidental signs in the business and neighborhood 
services sign category.  

(G)  Within the central business sign category:  

(i)  Design and construction must be appropriate to the era of significance and should not 
conflict with the architectural features of the structure.  

(ii)  When feasible, building wall signs should be located so that they align with others on 
the block.  

(iii)  Graphics painted directly on the building where the wall surface already has been 
painted are permitted. Signs proposed for previously unpainted rock or brick are not 
permitted, and historic ghost signs shall not be defaced or obscured.  

(iv)  Directory wall signs are permitted as secondary signs for buildings with multiple 
tenants in the CBD sign category.  

(v)  The light for a sign should be an indirect source focused directly on the sign. 
Fluorescent and sodium lighting is prohibited.  

(vi)  A secondary sign at an alley access that is not more than 40% of the primary business 
sign dimension is permitted for businesses having an alley entrance.  

(16)  Window signs.  

(A)  The maximum sign area is 20% of the window area. Any signs exceeding 20% shall be 
calculated against the maximum wall sign area permitted.  

(B)  Incidental signs exceeding 5% of the window area shall count towards the maximum 
window sign area.  

(C)  Within the central business sign category:  

(i)  A window sign should cover no more than approximately 30% of the total window area.  

(ii)  It may be painted on the glass or hung just inside the window.  

(iii)  Neon or phosphorescent lighting shall not exceed ten (10) percent of the total signage 
allowed and may only be placed in a window sign.  

Sec. 3.20.016 - Sign dimensional standards by sign category  

It is important to note that the dimensional standards listed below are maximums and that a sign is 
not required to reach the maximums allowed.  

(1)  Building wall. In CBD, the following are secondary signs: Directory/suspended.  

(A)  Residential. N/A.  

(B)  Multifamily.  

(i)  Area: Ratio of one square foot per linear foot of primary entrance facade; not to exceed forty (40) 
square feet maximum.  

(1)  Building wall. In CBD, the following are secondary signs: Directory/suspended.  

(A)  Residential. N/A.  

(B)  Multifamily.  



(i)  Area: Ratio of one square foot per linear foot of primary entrance facade; not to exceed 
forty (40) square feet maximum.  

(C)  Neighborhood services.  

(i)  Area: Ratio of one square foot per linear foot of primary facade.  

(D)  Business.  

(i)  Area:  

a.  Ratio of one and one-half square feet per linear foot of primary facade, up to a 
maximum of sixty-two and one-half (62.5) square feet, for buildings or tenant spaces 
with up to fifty (50) linear feet of primary facade.  

b.  Ratio of 1.25 square feet per linear foot of primary facade, up to a maximum of 
seventy-five (75) square feet, for buildings or tenant spaces with between fifty (50) and 
seventy-five (75) linear feet of primary facade.  

c.  Ratio of one square foot per linear foot of primary facade for buildings or tenant spaces 
with greater than seventy-five (75) linear feet of primary facade.  

d.  For buildings or tenant spaces with more than one exterior building wall with exposure 
to vehicular traffic, the maximum area of wall signage may be increased by 25% if the 
sign area is split between at least two (2) signs located on different wall exposures 
visible to vehicular traffic.  



 

(2)  Banner signs.  

(A)  Maximum sign area is forty-eight (48) square feet and not to exceed 75% of the building or 
lease space width upon which the sign is to be located.  

(B)  Maximum banner height dimension is four (4) feet.  

(C)  One banner sign may be placed on a building for up to two (2) weeks four (4) times per 
calendar year. The periods may be combined. Each tenant space or building located on a 
single lot or in a complex shall be allowed an individual banner as allowed per this article.  

(D)  All four (4) corners of a banner sign shall be securely attached to the building.  

(E)  Street banners announcing permitted community events may be placed over the public 
right-of-way in the CBD on Chestnut Street and Main Street as permitted by law. A maximum 
of one banner per block shall be permitted, and no more than two (2) banners per event shall 
be allowed.  

 





























CHAPTER 8: 
SIGNS 

CHAPTER 8:  SIGNS  of 164 249



ARTICLE 8.1 SIGNS 

SEC. 8.1.001 INTENT


The intent of regulating Signs that are visible from the Public 
Frontage is to ensure proper dimensioning and placement 
with respect to existing or planned architectural features, to 
maintain or improve public safety, to maintain or improve the 
aesthetic character of the context where they are located, 
and to provide legible information for pedestrians, not just 
drivers. 

SEC. 8.1.002 PURPOSE


The purpose of a Sign permit is to authorize the display, 
erection, rebuilding, restructuring, expansion, relocation, or 
structural Alteration of any on-premise or Off-Premise Sign.  

SEC. 8.1.003 APPLICABILITY


These Standards apply to all property within the City Limits 
and the ETJ of the City of Bastrop as it exists at the time this 
Code was adopted and as it may be amended and expanded 
in the future.  

SEC. 8.1.004 ENFORCEMENT


(a) It is an offense for a person to violate, a section of this 
chapter designated as an offense commits a 
misdemeanor punishable by a fine.  A violation occurs 
when a person violates or causes, allows, or permits a 
violation of this chapter.  

(b) Each violation of this chapter designated as an offense 
constitutes a separate offense.  

(c) No culpable mental state is required to prove an offense 
under this chapter if this offense involves: 

(1) Placement of a Sign in the right-of-way; 

(2) Placement of a Sign in another person’s property 
without the person’s permission; or, 

(3) Placement of a Sign that encumbers access to a  
person’s property or encumbers use of a Street, 
Sidewalk, trail, Path, or Driveway.  

(4) Placement of a sign unlawfully situated in a required 
Sight Triangle.  

CHAPTER 8:  SIGNS  of 165 249



SEC. 8.1.005 PROHIBITED SIGNS


(a) All Signs are prohibited in the City Limits and the 
Extraterritorial Jurisdiction (ETJ) unless: 

(1) Constructed, maintained, structurally altered, or 
improved pursuant to a valid permit when required 
under this Code; and, 

(2) Expressly authorized under the City of Bastrop’s B3 
Code. 

(b) Signs that cannot be expressly authorized include:  

(1) Signs located in or projected over any public right-of-
way or across the public right-of-way line extended 
across a railroad right-of-way, except when attached to 
and projecting no more than 18 inches from a 
Building wall legally located at or near the right-of-way 
line in the City Limits or in the ETJ.  

(2) Portable Signs.  

(3) Off-Premise Sign (including Billboards) containing 
Commercial advertising for the sale, rent, or lease of 
goods, real property, or services.   

(4) Signs with lights that blink, fluctuate, or move. Light 
rays must shine only upon the Sign and upon the 
property within the Premises where the Sign is located. 

(5) Signs of a size, location, movement, coloring, or 
manner of illuminating that may be confused with or 
construed as a traffic control device. 

(6) Signs that are attached to any utility pole or wire, traffic 
Sign, or public easement or are placed on 
government-owned property unless placed by written 
permission of the governmental entity. 

(7) Signs that obstruct any fire escape, required exit, 
window, or door opening intended as a means of 
egress. 

(8) Boxes, tires, or other goods stored in view of the 
Street, etc. that have large product identification that 
serves as a Sign. 

(9) Feather Banners. 

(10) Commercial Signs or advertising materials that are 
worn, held, or attached to a person’s body advertising 
the sale of goods, real property, or services. 

(11) Balloon Signs. 

CHAPTER 8:  SIGNS  of 166 249



(12) Inflatable Signs. 

(13) Banners. 

(14) Pennants. 

(15) Pole Signs other than along Hwy. 71.  

(16) Roof Signs (including Signs that are otherwise 
authorized but are placed on a roof or on a Mobile 
Food Vendor or vehicle).   

(17) Signs placed or attached to trees, bushes, planters, 
benches, or other Pedestrian elements. 

(18) Signs on trash receptacles except for Signs that are 
required by law, provide direction on the trash 
receptacle's use, provide safety instructions, or are 
otherwise customarily found on trash receptacles as a 
means of identifying the trash collection company. 

(19) Flags with a Commercial message. 

SEC. 8.1.006 OFF-PREMISE SIGNS (BILLBOARDS)


(a) No permit for Alteration or relocation may be issued for 
an off-Premises Signs. 

(b) Alteration. An off-Premises Sign may not be altered 
regarding amount of surface area, shape, orientation, 

Height, illumination, or location without the prior issuance 
of a Sign Alteration or relocation permit. Ordinary and 
routine necessary repairs that do not change the size, 
shape, orientation, Height, illumination, or location of an 
inventoried off-Premises Sign do not require an Alteration 
permit. A Sign Alteration permit expires if the approved 
modifications are not completed within 90 days of permit 
issuance. 

(c) Maintenance. If the City finds that any off-Premises Sign is 
not maintained in good repair, the City will notify and 
order the owner to repair the Sign within 30 calendar 
days. If the City finds that the Sign Structure or Sign area 
of an off-Premises Sign has deteriorated more than 60% 
of its replacement value or is not repaired within 30 
calendar days, the City shall notify the owner of the off-
Premises Sign and the owner of the real property where 
the off-Premises Sign is located to remove the off-
Premises Sign or poster panel from the property within a 
specified time. Replacement of more than 60% of an off-
Premises Sign during one calendar year shall void the 
legal nonconforming status of the Sign and require 
immediate Removal or conformance with current 
Standards. All off-Premises Signs ordered to be removed 
shall be stricken from the authorized list. 

CHAPTER 8:  SIGNS  of 167 249



(d) No existing billboard shall exceed 40 feet in Height from 
the ground level. No existing billboard shall interfere with 
the visibility of pedestrians or drivers of motor vehicles at 
Street intersections or otherwise obstruct traffic or create 
a traffic hazard. 

SEC. 8.1.007 NONCONFORMING SIGNS 


(a) Signs in Existence Prior to this Code. A Sign existing on 
the effective date of the Development Code that violates 
this Article or any other ordinance, and a Sign that comes 
under the jurisdiction of this Chapter due to the 
expansion of the City, is a legal Nonconforming Sign and 
may be continued, repaired, and maintained in good 
condition, but may not be otherwise altered.  

(b) Vo l u n t a r y R e m o v a l . Vo l u n t a r y R e m o v a l o f a 
Nonconforming Sign for purposes other than 
maintenance shall terminate its status as a legal 
Nonconforming Sign. Replacing a Sign cabinet is not 
considered maintenance.  

SEC. 8.1.008 EXEMPTED SIGNS


(a) The following Signs authorized under this Section are 
authorized in every Place Type or property in the ETJ 
without a permit, unless specifically required below: 

(1) Government Signs including Signs placed by the City, 
state, or federal government governing in their official 
capacity. 

(2) Traffic control devices that are erected and maintained 
to comply with the Texas Manual on Uniform Traffic 
Control Devices. 

(3) Signs required by this section.  

(4) Signs required by other law, including federal, state, or 
local law, including a Sign that a property owner is 
required to post on the owner’s property to warn of a 
danger or to prohibit access to the property either 
generally or specifically; the owner must comply with 
the federal, state, or local law to post a Sign on the 
property. 

(5) Official governmental notices and notices posted by 
governmental officers in the performance of their 
duties for regulatory purposes such as neighborhood 
crime watch areas, to identify Streets, or to warn of 
danger including those placed by the City, County, 
federal or state. 

CHAPTER 8:  SIGNS  of 168 249



(6) Signs displayed on trucks, buses, trailers, mobile food 
vendors, or other vehicles that are less than 32 square 
feet and are being operated as motor vehicles, 
provided that the primary purpose of the vehicles is 
not for display of Signs and provided that they are 
parked in areas appropriate to their use as vehicles, 
are in operable condition, and carry a current and 
valid license plate and state inspection tag.  Vehicle 
Signs shall conform to the following restrictions: 

A. Vehicular Signs shall contain no flashing or moving 
elements; 

B. Vehicular Signs shall not be attached to a vehicle 
so that the driver's vision is obstructed from any 
angle; and, 

C. Signs, lights and signals used by authorized 
emergency vehicles shall not be restricted. 

(7) Vending Machine Signs where the Sign Face is not 
larger than the normal dimensions of the machine to 
that the Sign is attached. 

(8) Memorial Signs or tablets when cut into any masonry 
surface or attached to a Building when constructed of 

bronze or other metal up to 6 square feet as part of a 
Building. 

(9) Real Estate Signs.  

A. Signs containing the message that the real estate 
where the Sign is located is for sale, lease, or rent 
together with information identifying the owner or 
agent.  

B. A real estate Sign may not exceed 4 square feet in 
size for Residential properties or 16 square feet in 
size for Nonresidential properties. 

(10) Any Sign wholly within the confines of a Building and 
oriented to be out of view from outside the Building. 

(11)Any Sign who wholly within the confines of a sports 
field or court and oriented to be out of view from 
outside the field or court. No Sign under this section 
may be larger than 32 square feet. The maximum 
Height for a field Sign shall not exceed 6 feet. 

(12) A non-Commercial Sign that is carried by a person or 
is a bumper sticker on a vehicle.  

CHAPTER 8:  SIGNS  of 169 249



(13) Business-related Signs on or visible through doors or 
windows indicating: store hours, security systems, 
trade organization memberships, credit cards 
accepted, no solicitation, and open/closed. These 
Signs will not count towards the cumulative Sign area 
limits so long as their total cumulative Sign area does 
not exceed 5 square feet.  

(14) C h a n g i n g a C o m m e r c i a l m e s s a g e t o a 
noncommercial message on any legal Sign surface.  
Any Sign surface where a Commercial message may 
contain a noncommercial message. 

SEC. 8.1.009 SIGNS REQUIRING A PERMIT


(a) Building Signs: 

A Building Sign is an on-Premises Sign that is directly 
attached to, erected on, or supported by a Building or 
other Structure having a principal function other than the 
support of such Sign.  

(1) Building Signs Types:  

A. Address Sign 

B. Awning Sign 

C. Band Sign 

D. Blade Sign  

E. Marquee Sign  

F. Nameplate Sign 

G. Outdoor Display Case Sign 

H.  Window Sign 

(2) General Requirements:  

A. Size. The maximum size of the sum of the area of 
all Building Signs may not exceed 15% of the 
Facade area of the tallest floor.  

B. Number. More than one Building Sign may be 
erected, provided the total surface area allowed is 
not exceeded.  

C. Height. No Building Sign may extend above the 
parapet wall or roof line of the Building.  

D. Projection / Clearance. With the exception of a 
blade Sign, no Building Sign may project more 
than 6 inches from the Building wall. All Signs that 
project more than 6 inches from the wall must 
maintain a clear Height of 8 feet above the ground.  

CHAPTER 8:  SIGNS  of 170 249



E. Illumination.  Building Signs may only be externally 
illuminated. No Sign may be illuminated except 
during operating hours of the use with which it is 
associated. Lighting shall be directly directed 
down toward the Sign and shielded so that it does 
not shine directly into a public right-of-way and 
does not interfere with the safe vision of motorists 
or people passing by. All Standards must meet the 
the Lighting Standards within this Code. 

(b) Freestanding Signs: 

A Freestanding Sign is an on-Premises Sign not directly 
attached to, erected on, or supported by a Building or 
other Structure having a principal function other than the 
support of such Sign, but instead attached to, erected on, 
or supported by some Structure such as a pole, frame, or 
other Structure that is not a part of the Building.  

(1) Freestanding Signs Types:  

A. Sidewalk Sign 

B. Yard Sign 

(2) General Requirements:  

A. Size.  Allocation of Sign area is based on the linear 
Frontage of the Project Site. A maximum Sign area 
of 1 square foot for each 2 linear feet of Frontage, 
provided that the maximum surface area does not 
exceed 16 square feet. 

B. Number.  One Freestanding Sign is allowed on any 
Lot. If a Master Sign Plan is approved, two 
Freestanding Signs may be allowed on a Lot or 
Project having a minimum Frontage of 300 feet.  

C. Illumination. Freestanding Signs may only be 
externally illuminated. Lighting shall be directly 
directed down toward the Sign and shielded so 
that it does not shine directly into a public right-of-
way and does not interfere with the safe vision of 
motorists or people passing by. All Standards must 
meet the City’s Code. 

(c) Monument and Pole Signs: 

A Freestanding Sign with single or multiple tenants, no 
more than 35 feet in Height, and having a ratio of less 
than 4:1 Sign width to narrowest width of support 
structure.  

CHAPTER 8:  SIGNS  of 171 249



SEC. 8.1.010 ON-PREMISES FREESTANDING SIGNS (MONUMENT SIGN)


(a) Allowed Signs and Standards. Permanent on-Premises 
Freestanding Signs are subject to the following Standards:  

(1) The number of these Signs on a Premises is limited to 
one per Street frontage. The following are not counted 
in this limitation:  

A. Directional Signs up to 12 square feet in area, 
provided the number of these Signs does not 
exceed the number of driveways; and  

(b) Maximum Height 

(1) The maximum Height of any on-Premises Signs shall 
not exceed the following:  

A. 35 feet along all Thoroughfares within P5 Place 
Types.  

(c) Maximum Sign Area.  

(1) A Signs Height to width ratio may not exceed 4:1.  

SEC. 8.1.011 SIGN PERMIT REQUIREMENTS


(a) Applications for a Sign permit must be processed through 
the City pursuant to this Code. 

(b) Requirements. Except as otherwise provided for herein, 
no Sign shall be erected, posted, painted, or otherwise 
produced, changed, or reconstructed, in whole or in part, 
within the City Limits and ETJ of the City without first 
obtaining a permit. 

(c) Applications: Application for a permit required by this 
Code shall be made upon forms provided by the City. The 
Application for Sign permits shall contain all information, 
drawings, and specifications necessary to fully advise the 
City of the type, size, shape, location, Place Type Zoning 
District, if within City Limits, Construction, and materials (if 
in Historic District) of the proposed Sign, and the Building 
Structure or Premises where it is to be placed. Drawings 
shall also show all existing Signs on the property. An 
Application is not considered complete until all necessary 
information listed in this Code are provided with the 
Application. 

(d) Application for permit. An application for a Sign permit 
must be Filed with the City. An Application for any Sign 
must state the date when the owner intends to erect the 
Sign. 

(e) All Applicants must provide sufficient proof, to be 
determined by the City, showing a real property 
ownership interest in the property where the Sign will be 

CHAPTER 8:  SIGNS  of 172 249



located or sufficient proof of authorization from the real 
property owner for Sign placement on the property. 

(f) An Application shall include: 

(1) Name, address, and telephone number of the owner 
of the Sign;  

(2) Name, address, and telephone of lessor sponsoring 
the Sign, if any; 

(3) Name, address, and telephone number of the 
contractor, if any, installing the Sign;  

(4) Name, address, and telephone number of the 
property where the Sign is to be installed; 

(5) Date when it is to be installed; 

(6) Place Type Zoning District, if in the City Limits, where 
the proposed Sign will be located; 

(7) Any Warrant that will be requested or has been 
approved; and, 

(8) An illustration or photograph including the location, 
appearance, and dimensions of the proposed Sign.   

(9) An illustration or photograph of the position of the 
Sign on a Building or on the ground in plain view, 
drawn to scale, and Elevation views, drawn to scale. 

(10) If required by the City, a copy of stress sheets and 
calculations showing that the structure is designed for 
dead load and wind pressure in any direction and in 
any amount required by this chapter or by the 
Building Code or other laws adopted by the City. 

(11) An application is not considered complete unless all 
the above information is provided with the 
Application. 

(g)  The City shall promptly process the Sign permit 
Application and approve the Application, reject the 
Application, or notify the Applicant of deficiencies in the 
Application within 21 calendar days after receipt.  Any 
Application that complies with all provisions of this Code, 
the Building Code, and other applicable laws, Standards, 
and ordinances shall be approved after inspection and 
approval of the plans and the Site. 

(1) If the Application is rejected, the City shall provide in 
writing a list of the reasons for the rejection. An 
application shall be rejected for non-compliance with 
the terms of this Code, Building Code, B3 Technical 

CHAPTER 8:  SIGNS  of 173 249



Manual or other applicable law, Standards, or 
ordinance. If the permit Application does not comply 
with the City ordinances after resubmission and review 
by City and no variances have been applied for, the 
Applicant must pay a reapplication fee before the City 
will review the Application again. 

(2) If no action is taken by the City within 21 calendar days 
after receipt, the City shall not collect a fee for the Sign 
permit Application.  The City then shall approve or 
reject the Application as soon as practical after the 21-
day deadline.  A new 21-day deadline begins at each 
submission.  However, if the City has not approved or 
rejected the permit within 45 calendar days after the 
completed Application is Filed, the Applicant can file a 
complaint to the ZBA as if the permit had been 
denied. 

(h) Duration and revocation of permit. If a Sign is not 
completely installed within 6 months following the 
issuance of a Sign permit, the permit shall be void.  The 
City may revoke a Sign permit under any of the following 
circumstances: 

(1) The City determines that information in the 
Application was materially false or misleading; 

(2) The Sign as installed does not conform to the Sign 
permit Application; 

(3) The Sign violates this Code, Building Code, B3 
Technical Manual, or other applicable law, standard, or 
ordinance; or 

(4) The City determines that the Sign is not being 
properly maintained or has been abandoned. 

(i) Appeals. If the City denies a permit, the Applicant may 
Appeal through Warrant granted by the Planning & 
Zoning Commission.  

(j) All applications for permits shall include a drawing to 
scale of the proposed Sign and all existing Signs 
maintained on the Premises and visible from the right-of-
way, a drawing of the Lot plan or Building Facade 
indicating the proposed location of the Sign, and 
specifications for its Construction, Lighting, motion, and 
wiring, if any. All drawings shall be of sufficient clarity to 
show the extent of the work.   

(k) Qualifications. Only those individuals who properly 
obtained a permit by the City, the City’s designee, or 
other statutorily required permit or approval shall receive 
a permit to erect or alter any Sign. Permits for the 

CHAPTER 8:  SIGNS  of 174 249



installation, erection, or Alteration of any electrical 
components on a Sign shall be issued only to those 
individuals who hold a Commercial Sign operator’s 
license and master electrician’s license.  It is an offense for 
any person licensed under the provisions of this Code to 
obtain a permit on behalf of, or for the benefit of, any 
unlicensed person whose Business activities are such that 
such unlicensed person would need a license to obtain a 
permit. 

(l) Conditions for issuing permits. No permit for the erection 
or Alteration of any Sign over any Sidewalk, Alley, or other 
public property, or on or over any roof or Building shall be 
issued to any person except upon the condition that the 
permit may be withdrawn at any time, at which time the 
Sign shall be immediately removed by the Responsible 
Party, who will also be liable under the penalties provided 
for in this Code. 

(m) Issuance. A new permit shall not be issued when: 

(1) An existing billboard (off-Premises) Sign is in a 
deteriorated, unsafe, or unsightly condition.  

(2) A Sign on the Premises is not in compliance with this 
Code. 

(3) Authorization of the property owner where the Sign is 
to be placed has not been obtained. 

(4) Inspection. Any Sign that a permit is issued shall be 
inspected after its erection for conformity to the 
provisions of this Code.  

(5) Fees. No permit shall be issued until applicable fees 
have been paid to the City. Fees may be subject to 
change without prior notification.  The Sign permit fee 
schedule shall be in accordance with the fee schedule 
enacted by the City Council and located at City Hall. 

(6) Before any permit may be issued for a new Sign under 
this chapter, the Responsible Party shall modify or 
remove any of its own nonconforming Signs and Sign 
structures displayed or erected on the same property 
that the permit is being sought, so that all the Signs 
and Sign structures they are responsible for on the 
property conform to the provisions of this chapter. 
This provision does not apply to real estate Signs, 
banners, temporary Signs, or Sidewalk Signs. This 
provision does not apply to nonconforming Signs with 
a Variance. 

CHAPTER 8:  SIGNS  of 175 249



ARTICLE 8.2 MASTER SIGN PLANS 

(a) A Master Sign Plan is a comprehensive document 
containing specific regulations for an entire Project’s 
Signs. Master Sign Plans are appropriate for Planned 
Development Districts, Master Planned Developments, 
development agreements or in the case where a Project 
applicant is seeking several variances to the Signs 
Chapter of the B3 Code. Master Sign Plans may be 
s u b m i t t e d w i t h Zo n i n g Co n c e p t S c h e m e s o r 
Neighborhood Regulating Plans. 

(1) Master Sign Plans for areas with a multi-unit 
complex are highly encouraged to meet the unique 
needs of each multi-unit complex. 

(2) All owners, tenants, subtenants and purchasers of 
individual units within the Development shall 
comply with the approved Master Sign Plan. 

SEC. 8.2.001 APPROVAL OF MASTER SIGN PLANS


(a) A Responsible Party that seeks approval of a Master Sign 
Plan must file a request for a Master Sign Plan with the 
Sign Administrator along with a Sign permit fee, as stated 
in the City's most recent fee schedule. The Sign 
Administrator will indicate what documentation the 
Responsible Party must provide in support of the request. 

(b) Once the necessary documentation has been provided to 
the Sign Administrator, the Sign Administrator may 
administratively deny or approve the Master Sign Plan, 
with or without conditions. 

(c) The Sign Administrator may determine to present the 
Master Sign Plan to the City Council for approval or denial 
in lieu of Administrative Approval. 

(d) If the Responsible Party disagrees with a decision of the 
Sign Administrator to deny a Master Sign Plan, or 
disagrees with the conditions placed on a Master Sign 
Plan by the Sign Administrator, the Responsible Party may 
submit a written request that the City Council review the 
Master Sign Plan request, the supporting documents, and 
the Sign Administrator's decision. The City Council can 
affirm, reverse, or modify the decision of the Sign 
Administrator. 

(e) The City Council has final authority to approve a Master 
Sign Plan or conditions on a Master Sign Plan. 

(f) A Master Sign Plan ordinance can modify Variance 
procedures for its specific property. 

CHAPTER 8:  SIGNS  of 176 249



SEC. 8.2.002 PROCEDURE FOR VARIANCES TO MASTER SIGN PLANS


(a) A Responsible Party that wants a Variance from a Master 
Sign Plan adopted under this chapter must file a request 
for Variance with the Sign Administrator along with a 
Variance fee, as stated in the City's most recent fee 
schedule. The Sign Administrator will indicate what 
documentation the Responsible Party must provide in 
support of the request. 

(b) Once the necessary documentation has been provided to 
the Sign Administrator, the Sign Administrator may 
administratively deny or approve a Variance, with or 
without conditions, from an adopted Master Sign Plan if 
the change is related to: 

(1) Change the location of the Sign within the area 
designated by the Master Sign Plan; 

(2) Change the location of the Sign within the right-of-
way or into the right-of-way so long as a license 
agreement is presented and approved by the Sign 
Administrator; 

(3) Change illumination of the Sign so long as the 
illumination complies with Section 6.5.004 - Outdoor 
Lighting; 

(4) Change of Sign Face so long as the size of the Sign 
Face is not increased; 

(5) Change in number of panels or size of panels on a 
Monument Sign so long as total size of Sign Face is 
not increased; or 

(6) Change in letter size or line number so long as total 
size of Sign Face is not increased. 

(c) Administrative Approval is not allowed and Variance 
procedures in Section 8.2.003 - Variances - shall be 
followed if: 

(1) Additional Signs are requested; 

(2) Increase in the size of the Sign is requested; 

(3) Change in Sign type is requested; 

(4) Increase in the Height of the Sign is requested; or 

(5) The Sign Administrator determines the Variance 
request shall be reviewed in the regular Variance 
process. 

CHAPTER 8:  SIGNS  of 177 249



(d) If the Responsible Party disagrees with a decision of the 
Sign Administrator to deny a Variance request, or 
disagrees with the conditions placed on a grant of a 
Variance by the Sign Administrator, the Responsible Party 
may submit a written request that the ZBA review the 
Variance request, the supporting documents, and the 
Sign Administrator's decision. The ZBA can affirm, 
reverse, or modify the decision of the Sign Administrator. 

(e) The ZBA has final authority to approve a Variance or 
conditions on a Variance. 

(f) A Master Sign Plan ordinance can modify Variance 
procedures for its specific property. 

SEC. 8.2.003 VARIANCES


(a) A Responsible Party that wants a Variance from the Sign 
Chapter of the B3 Code must file a request for Variance 
with the Sign Administrator along with a Variance 
application fee, as stated in the City’s most recent fee 
schedule. The Sign Administrator will indicate what 
documentation the Responsible Party must provide in 
support of the request. 

(b) Once the complete and necessary documentation has 
been provided to the Sign Administrator, the Sign 
Administrator shall review the request and make a 

determination based on the documentation provided by 
the Responsible Party. 

(c) The Sign Administrator may, in specific cases and subject 
to appropriate conditions, and only after a finding based 
on the evidence presented that strict compliance with the 
requirements of this Chapter will result in substantial 
undue hardship, sufficient mitigation, or inequity to the 
applicant without sufficient corresponding benefit to the 
City and its citizens in accomplishing the objectives of this 
Chapter: 

(1) Permit a Variance for a noncommercial or Commercial 
Sign of the Setback, effective area, size of internal 
components of a Sign so long as total size of Sign 
Face is compliant, or Height requirements of this 
Chapter; 

(2) Authorize one additional Sign on Premises more than 
the number permitted by this Chapter; or 

(3) Approve an increase in Height up to four (4) feet. 

(d) Other requests for variances shall be forwarded to the 
ZBA. The ZBA may decide, subject to appropriate 
conditions, and only after a finding based on the 
evidence presented that strict compliance with the 



requirements of this Code will result in substantial undue 
hardship, sufficient mitigation, or inequity to the applicant 
without sufficient corresponding benefit to the City and 
its citizens in accomplishing the objectives of this 
Chapter. 

The Sign Administrator and ZBA shall consider: 

(1) Special or unique hardship because of the size or 
shape of the property on which the Sign is to be 
located, or the visibility of the property from public 
roads. 

(2) Hardship claim based on the exceptional topographic 
conditions or physical features uniquely affecting the 
property on which a Sign is to be located. 

(3) Proposed Sign location, configuration, design, 
materials and colors are harmonious. 

(4) The Sign and its supporting structure is in architectural 
harmony with the surrounding Structures. 

(5) Mitigation measures related to the Sign in question or 
other Signs on the same Premises. 

(6) Demonstrated and documented correlation between 
the Variance and protecting the public health and 
safety. 

(7) Whether the Sign could have been included in a 
Master Sign Plan. Master Sign plans are highly 
encouraged. The City will be more inclined to 
favorably consider a Variance request when the 
Variance is part of a Master Sign Plan. There will be a 
presumption against granting variances piecemeal, ad 
hoc, on a case-by-case basis when the Sign for which 
a Variance is sought could have been included in a 
Master Sign Plan and considered in the course of a 
comprehensive review of the entire Project’s signage. 

(8) The Sign Administrator may authorize the remodeling, 
renovation, or alteration of a Sign when some 
nonconforming aspect of the Sign is thereby reduced. 

(f) Where a permit was required for a Sign’s erection 
according to the law in effect at the time the Sign was 
erected and where the Sign Administrator finds no record 
of a permit being issued, the Sign Administrator may 
authorize the issuance of a replacement permit when, 
from the evidence presented, the Sign Administrator finds 
either that a permit was issued or that arrangements were 
made with a sign company to obtain such permit. 

CHAPTER 8: SIGNS  of 179 249



(g) If a Variance applicant wishes to appeal the decision of 
the Sign Administrator, the applicant shall file for an 
appeal with the ZBA within10 days of receipt of the Sign 
Administrator’s decision. The ZBA shall consider the 
appeal at its next regular meeting or as soon as 
practicable. The ZBA shall either:  

(1) Approve, reject, or approve upon condition the 
Variance Application, if any, at its meeting;  

(2) Postpone its decision on the request of the applicant; 
or,  

(3) Postpone its decision to its next regular meeting for 
good cause based on need for further review by the 
board of adjustment. Upon approval by the board of 
adjustment, the Sign permit and variances, if any, the 
permit shall be issued by the city administrator or the 
administrator’s designee. 

SEC. 8.2.004 CONDITIONS


(a) The Sign Administrator or ZBA may impose conditions 
upon the granting of a Variance under this chapter. Such 
conditions must be related to the Variance sought and be 
generally intended to mitigate the adverse effects of the 
Sign on neighboring tracts and the general aesthetic 
ambiance of the community. A non-exhaustive list of 

examples of conditions include increased setbacks, 
added vegetation, muted colors, and decreased Lighting. 
The ZBA may condition Sign variances on the 
Responsible Party bringing other existing, nonconforming 
Signs into compliance with current regulations. A 
Responsible Party's failure to comply with conditions 
placed on a Variance may result in the ZBA voiding the 
Variance and authorizing all available code enforcement 
actions and other remedies available in equity or at law. 

CHAPTER 8: SIGNS  of 180 249



ARTICLE 8.3 ON-PREMISE SIGN TYPES & STANDARDS 

a) PLACE TYPES  ▶  P2 P3 P4 P5 SPECIFICATIONS  ▼

ADDRESS SIGN P P P P

a. Quantity: 1 per Address max. 
b. Area: 2 sf max.  
c. Width: 24 in max. 
d. Height: 12 in max.  
e. Depth / Projection: 3 in max.  
f. Clearance: 4.5 ft min. 
g. Letter Height: 6” max.

DESCRIPTION
Address Signs shall be made easily visible through the use of colors or materials that contrast with their background and 
shall be attached to the Facade or Principal Entrance of the unit they identify. 

SIGN DETAILS

i. Address Sign numerals applied to a House-form Residential, Commercial, or office buildings shall be between 4 and 
6 inches tall. Address Sign numerals applied to individual Dwelling units in apartment buildings shall be at least 2 
inches tall. 

ii. Address Signs shall be easily visible by using colors or materials that contrast with their background.  

iii. Address Signs shall be constructed of durable materials.  

iv. The address Sign shall be attached to the front of the Building in proximity to the Principal Entrance or at a mailbox. 

CHAPTER 8: SIGNS  of 181 249



b) PLACE TYPES  ▶  P2 P3 P4 P5 SPECIFICATIONS  ▼

AWNINGS & 
SIGNS P P

a. Quantity: 1 per window max. 
b. Area: n/a 
c. Width: width of face max. 
d. Height: n/a 
e. Depth / Projection: 4 ft min.  
f. Clearance: 8 ft min. 
g. Letter Height: 5 in min., 10 in max.  
h. Valance Height: 12 in max. 
i. Distance from Curb: 2 ft min.

DESCRIPTION
Awning Signage shall be limited to no more than 70% of the the Valance of the awning or the vertical portion of a dome 
awning. The Height of the Valance shall not exceed 12 inches. Awning Signs shall contain only the Business name, Logo, 
and/or Street address. 

SIGN DETAILS

i. The following variations of awnings, with or without Sign Bands, are permitted: (1) Fixed or retractable awnings; (2) 
Shed awnings; (3) Dome awnings  

ii. Other awning types may be permitted by Warrant.  

iii. Signage shall be limited to the Valance of the awning or the vertical portion of a dome awning.  

iv. No portion of an awning shall be lower than 8 feet Clearance.  

v. Awnings shall be a minimum of 4 feet in depth.  

vi. Awnings shall not extend beyond the width of the Building or tenant space, nor encroach above the roof line or the 
Story above.  

vii. The Height of the Valance shall not exceed 12 inches.  

viii. Awning Signs shall contain only the Business name, Logo, and/or Street address.  

ix. Letters, numbers, and graphics shall cover no more than 70% of the Valance area.  

x. Awning Signs shall not be internally illuminated or backlit. 

CHAPTER 8: SIGNS  of 182 249



c) PLACE TYPES  ▶  P2 P3 P4 P5 SPECIFICATIONS  ▼

BAND SIGNS P P

a. Quantity: 1 max. (2 for corner buildings) 
b. Area: 1.5 sf per linear ft Facade 
c. Width: 90% max. width of Facade 
d. Height: 3 ft max. 
e. Depth / Projection: 7 in max. 
f. Clearance:  7 ft min.  
g. Apex: n/a  
h. Letter Height: 18 in max.

DESCRIPTION
1 Band Sign limited to 90% of the width of the Building Facade shall be permitted for each Building with a Commercial 
Use. Information shall consist only of the name and/or Logo of the Business. 

SIGN DETAILS

i. All businesses are permitted 1 Band Sign on each first Story Facade.  

ii. Band Signs shall include only letters, background, Lighting, and an optional Logo. Information shall consist only of the name and/or 
Logo of the Business. Band Signs shall not list products, sales, or other promotional messages, or contact information. 

iii. The following Band Sign Construction types are permitted: Cut-out Letters. Letters shall be individually attached to the wall or on a 
separate background panel, and shall be externally illuminated. 

(1) Flat Panel. Letters shall be printed or etched on same surface as the background, that is then affixed to the wall and externally 
illuminated.  

(2) Channel Letters by Warrant. Each letter shall have its own internal Lighting element, individually attached to the wall or onto a 
separate background panel. The letter shall be translucent, or solid to create a backlit halo effect.

CHAPTER 8: SIGNS  of 183 249

leckert
Rectangle



d) PLACE TYPES  ▶  P2 P3 P4 P5 SPECIFICATIONS  ▼

BLADE SIGNS P P

a. Quantity: 1 per Facade max. 2 max. 
b. Area: 4 sf max. In P2, P3 & 6 sf max. in P4, P5 
c. Width: 4 ft max. 
d. Height: 4 ft max. 
e. Depth / Projection: 4 ft max. 
f. Clearance:  8 ft min. 
g. Apex: n/a  
h. Letter Height: 8 in max.

DESCRIPTION

Blade Signs shall be permitted only for businesses that have a Principal Entrance on the first Story. One Blade Sign shall 
be permitted for each Business if the Facade is no more than 5 feet from the Principal Frontage Line. Blade Signs may 
encroach into the Public Frontage up to 4 feet, shall clear the Sidewalk by at least 8 feet, and shall not encroach above the 
bottom of any second Story windows. Blade Signs shall be limited to the name and/or Logo of the Business. 

SIGN DETAILS

i. Blade Signs may be double-sided.  

ii. Blade Signs shall be permitted only for businesses that have a Principal Entrance on the first Story.  

iii. Businesses shall be permitted 1 Blade Sign where its Principal Frontage Lin is no more than 5 feet from the 
Facade. Businesses that have a Secondary Frontage line that is no more than 2 feet from the Facade shall be 
permitted 1 additional blade Sign on that Facade.  

iv. Blade Signs may encroach into the Public Frontage up to 4 feet and shall clear the Sidewalk by at least 8 feet.  

v. Blade Signs shall not encroach above the roof line nor above the bottom of the second Story window.  

vi. Text and graphics on the Blade Sign shall be limited to the name and/or Logo of the Business. Slogans, address 
labels, operating hours and contact information shall not be permitted.  

vii. Mounting hardware, such as supports and brackets, may be simple and unobtrusive or highly decorative, but 
shall complement the design of the Sign, the Building, or both.  

viii. For buildings with multiple Signs, mounting hardware or Sign shapes, sizes and colors shall be Coordinated.

CHAPTER 8: SIGNS  of 184 249



e) PLACE TYPES  ▶  P2 P3 P4 P5 SPECIFICATIONS  ▼

MARQUEE


SIGNS
P

a. Quantity: 1 per Business max. 
b. Area: n/a 
c. Width: entrance plus 2 ft each side 
d. Height: 50% Story Height max. 
e. Depth / Projection: 4 ft min.;10 ft max.  
f. Clearance: 10 ft min  
g. Apex: n/a  
h. Letter Height: n/a 
i. Distance from Curb: 3 ft min.

DESCRIPTION
Marquees shall be located only above the Principal Entrance of a Building, shall provide a minimum clearance 
of 10 feet, and may Encroach the Public Frontage to within 2 feet of the Curb. Message Boards shall be 
permitted as part of Marquees. 

SIGN DETAILS

i. Marquees shall be located only above the Principal Entrance of a Building.  

ii. No Marquee shall be wider than the entrance it serves, plus 2 feet on each side thereof.  

iii. No portion of a Marquee shall be lower than 10 feet Clearance.  

iv. No Marquee shall extend closer to the Curb than 3 feet.  

v. Columns or posts may be used as supports for Marquees 8 feet deep  or deeper if approved by the DRC.  

vi. All Marquees, including anchors, bolts, supporting rods, and braces, shall be constructed of non-combustible materials and shall 
be designed by a structural engineer submitted for approval to the Building Official.  

vii. Marquee components and materials may vary. Anchors, bolts, and supporting rods should be limited to the interior of the 
Marquee.  

viii. Message Boards shall be permitted as part of Marquees.  

ix. A Band Sign shall be permitted above a Marquee. 

CHAPTER 8: SIGNS  of 185 249



f) PLACE TYPES  ▶  P2 P3 P4 P5 SPECIFICATIONS  ▼

NAMEPLATE 
SIGNS P P

a. Quantity: 1 max.  
b. Area: 3 sf max. 
c. Width: 18 in max. 
d. Height: 2 ft max. 
e. Depth / Projection: 3 in max. 
f. Clearance: 4 ft min. 
g. Apex: 7 ft max. 
h. Letter Height: n/a

DESCRIPTION
1 Nameplate per address limited to 3 square feet may be attached to a Building wall within 10 feet of a Principal 
Entrance. 

SIGN DETAILS

i. Nameplates shall consist of either a panel or individual letters applied to a Building wall within 10 feet of an entrance 
to the Building.  

ii. One Nameplate shall be permitted per address.  

iii. Nameplates shall not exceed 3 square feet.  

iv. Nameplates shall be constructed of durable materials. 

CHAPTER 8: SIGNS  of 186 249



g) PLACE TYPES  ▶  P2 P3 P4 P5 SPECIFICATIONS  ▼

OUTDOOR 
DISPLAY CASE P P

a. Quantity: 1 max. 
b. Area: 6 sf max. 
c. Width: 3.5 ft max. 
d. Height: 3.5 ft max. 
e. Depth / Projection: 5 in max. 
f. Clearance:  4 ft min. 
g. Apex: n/a 
h. Letter Height: n/a

DESCRIPTION Outdoor Display Cases shall not exceed 6 square feet and may be internally illuminated. 

SIGN DETAILS

i. Each Outdoor Display Case shall not exceed 6 square feet.  

ii. Outdoor display cases may be externally or internally illuminated.  

iii. Theaters may be permitted larger outdoor display cases by Warrant.  

iv. Outdoor display cases shall not be attached to Shopfront windows. 

CHAPTER 8: SIGNS  of 187 249



h) PLACE TYPES  ▶  P2 P3 P4 P5 SPECIFICATIONS  ▼

SIDEWALK 
SIGN P P

a. Quantity: 1 Building max.   
b. Area: 3 sf max. 
c. Width: 24 in max. 
d. Height: 2 ft max. 
e. Depth / Projection: 3 in max. 
f. Clearance:  4 ft min. 
g. Apex: 7 ft max. 
h. Letter Height: n/a

DESCRIPTION 1 Freestanding, double-sided, temporary Sidewalk Sign may be placed within the Parking Strip of the Public Frontage for 
each Business. Sidewalk Signs shall be removed at the close of Business each day. 

SIGN DETAILS

i. Sidewalk Signs shall consist of Freestanding, double-sided temporary Signs placed at the entrance to a Business in a 
primarily Pedestrian environment.  

ii. Sidewalk Signs shall be removed at the close of Business each day.  

iii. 1 Sidewalk Sign shall be permitted for each Business.  

iv. Sidewalk Signs shall not exceed 42 inches in Height or 26 inches in width.  

v. Sidewalk Signs shall be moved inside during high winds or other weather conditions that might pose a hazard to 
public safety. 

CHAPTER 8: SIGNS  of 188 249



i) PLACE TYPES  ▶  P2 P3 P4 P5 SPECIFICATIONS  ▼

WINDOW SIGN P P

a. Quantity: 1 per window max. 
b. Area: 25% coverage per window 
c. Width: n/a 
d. Height: n/a 
e. Depth / Projection: n/a 
f. Clearance: 4 FT min. 
g. Apex: n/a 
h. Letter Height: 8 in max. 

DESCRIPTION Window Signs shall not interfere with the primary function of windows, that is to enable passersby and public safety 
personnel to see through windows into Premises and view product displays.

SIGN DETAILS

i. Only the following Window Sign types shall be permitted: 

ii. Vinyl applique letters applied to the window. Appliques shall consist of individual letters or graphics with no visible background.  

(a) Letters painted directly on the window. 

(b) Hanging Signs that hang from the ceiling behind the window.  

(c) Neon Signs. 

(d) Door Signs applied to or hanging inside the glass portion of an entrance doorway.  

iii. Window Signs shall not interfere with the primary function of windows, that is to enable passersby and public safety personnel to 
see through windows into Premises and view product displays.  

iv. Window Signs shall be no larger than 25% of the total area of the window onto which they are applied. Sign area shall be 
measured using smallest rectangle that fully encompasses the entire extent of letters, Logo and background.  

v. Window Signs may list services and/or products sold on the Premises, or provide phone numbers, operating hours or other 
messages, provided that the total aggregate area of these messages not exceed the limit provided above.  

vi. Letters on window Signs shall be no taller than 8 inches.

CHAPTER 8: SIGNS  of 189 249



K) PLACE TYPES  ▶  P2 P3 P4 P5 SPECIFICATIONS  ▼

YARD SIGN P

a. Quantity: 1 max per Lot 

b. Area: 6 sf max.  

c. Width: 3 ft max. (not counting post) 

d. Height: 2 ft max. (not counting post) 

e. Depth / Projection: n/a 

f. Clearance: min. 3 ft to Sign edge 

g. Apex: max. 6 ft to top of post 

h. Letter Height: 8 in max.

DESCRIPTION 1 single- or double-post Yard Sign may be placed with the Private Frontage.

SIGN DETAILS
i. One single- or double-post Yard Sign for each Business may be permitted by Warrant, provided it is set back at least 

6 feet from the Frontage Line, does not exceed 6 square feet excluding posts, and does not exceed 6 feet high 
including posts, measured from the yard at the post location.

CHAPTER 8: SIGNS  of 190 249



K) PLACE TYPES  ▶  P2 P3 P4 P5 SPECIFICATIONS  ▼

MONUMENT & 
POLE SIGN P

a. Quantity: 1 max per Frontage 

b. Height: 35 ft max. in P5 on HWY 71 Frontage 

20 ft max in P5 on HWY 95 & HWY 150 

4 ft max in P4 

c. Max Height to width ratio: 4:1

DESCRIPTION
A Sign permanently affixed to the ground at its base or by poles that are enclosed by natural stone, stucco, brick, or wood 
and not mounted to a part of a Building.  Pole(s) may be used to construct a Monument Sign so long as the poles are not 
visible below the Sign

SIGN DETAILS

i. A Monument Sign can be defined as a ground Sign generally having a low profile with little or no Open Space 
between the ground and the Sign and having a Structure constructed of masonry, wood, or materials similar in 
appearance.  

ii.  How to Measure:  

(1) Maximum total Height is measured from the finished grade at the center of the Sign. If the finished grade at the 
center of the Sign is higher than the finished grade of the closest paved surface, then the Height shall be 
measured from the finished grade of the closest paved surface. 

(2) The monument base shall be a maximum of 2 feet in Height and shall be included in the calculation of total 
Height. 

(3) A Monument Sign width cannot exceed 2 times the allowable Sign Height. 

iii. The max Height allowed along Hwy. 71 is 35 feet. 

iv. The max Height allowed along Hwy. 150 and Hwy. 95 is 20 feet. 

v. Pole Signs are permitted along the Hwy 71 Frontage through the City Limits and the ETJ. Max Height 35 feet

CHAPTER 8: SIGNS  of 191 249



ARTICLE 8.4 TEMPORARY SIGNS 

SEC.  8.4.001 STANDARDS FOR TEMPORARY SIGNS


Temporary signs are allowed for a limited time period in 
accordance with the permitting requirements.  

(a) Banner signs 

(1) Maximum sign area is forty-eight (48) square feet and 
not to exceed 75% of the building or lease space 
width upon which the sign is to be located.  

(2) Maximum banner height dimension is four (4) feet.  

(3) One banner sign may be placed on a building for up 
to two (2) weeks four (4) times per calendar year. The 
periods may be combined. Each tenant space or 
building located on a single lot or in a complex shall 
be allowed an individual banner as allowed per this 
article.  

(4) All four (4) corners of a banner sign shall be securely 
attached to the building.  

(5) Street banners announcing permitted community 
events may be placed over the public right-of-way in 
the CBD on Chestnut Street and Main Street as 

permitted by law. A maximum of one banner per block 
shall be permitted, and no more than two (2) banners 
per event shall be allowed.  

(b) Bandit Signs 

(1) Bandit signs shall not exceed four (4) square feet and 
shall not be more than three (3) feet above the natural 
grade.  

(2) Bandit signs shall be authorized for new residential 
subdivisions during the development and sale phases 
only.  

(3) Bandit signs shall not be placed on the public right-of-
way, or within the visibility triangle of an intersection.  

(4) The posting of bandit signs shall only be allowed 
between the hours of 5:00 a.m. Saturday through 6:00 
a.m. Monday.  

(5) The bandit signs shall be set back from the property 
line a minimum of five (5) feet and shall not exceed 
three (3) feet in height above the natural grade.  

(6) Any bandit sign placed prior to 5:00 a.m. on Saturday 
or not removed by 6:00 a.m. Monday shall be in 
violation of this article. The city shall remove bandit 

CHAPTER 8: SIGNS  of 192 249



signs in violation of this article within twenty-four (24) 
hours. The owner of the bandit sign shall be fined in 
accordance with this article. 

(c) Construction Site Signs  

(1) The maximum sign area for a construction site sign is 
as follows:  

A. Freestanding: Thirty-two (32) square feet.  

B. Wall signs: 10% of building or lease space facade 
on which it is attached.  

(3) Only one freestanding sign per street frontage on the 
property where the activity is to occur is permitted.  

(4) Only one wall sign per building is permitted.  

(5) The construction site sign shall be displayed no earlier 
than thirty (30) days before the commencement of the 
activity and must be removed no later that thirty (30) 
days after the activity is completed, or the installation 
of a permanent sign, whichever occurs first. 

(d) Development information signs 

(1) The maximum sign area shall not exceed forty (40) 
square feet.  

(2) One sign is allowed for every fifty (50) lots, not to 
exceed thirty-two (32) signs unless the project exceeds 
four (4) square miles.  

(3) All signs must conform to a unified design, shape and 
neutral color scheme and be constructed of strong, 
durable weather-resistant materials. 

(4) For a residential subdivision, the sign may be 
displayed once the plat is recorded and shall be 
removed when 90% of each phase to which the sign is 
a part of is completed.  

(5) For a commercial development not requiring platting, 
the sign may be displayed with the approval of either 
the site plan or the building permit. 

(6) Development information signs shall be located on 
private property within the project subdivision/
development to which the signs pertain. Signs may 
not be located on boundary streets of the project 
subdivision. 

CHAPTER 8: SIGNS  of 193 249



(e) Garage sale signs  

(1) Must be located on private property (i.e., not in the 
right-of-way or on a utility pole) at a distance not less 
than three (3) feet from a curb.  

(2) A maximum sign area of four (4) square feet.  

(3) Allowed from 5:00 p.m. Thursday until 8:00 a.m. 
Monday (unless Monday is a holiday, in which case the 
sign can remain until 8:00 a.m. Tuesday). 

(f) Light pole-mounted banners 

(1) Limited to not more than one banner on any light 
pole.  

(2) Limited to no more than two (2) feet × six (6) feet in 
exterior dimension and twelve (12) square feet in area 
per banner.  

(3) A minimum height of six (6) feet as measured from 
adjacent grade to the bottom of the banner.  

(4) A maximum height of twelve (12) feet to the top of the 
banner.  

(5) Banners shall be maintained in good repair. Should 
they become excessively faded, tattered or torn, they 
shall be replaced or removed.  

(6) Banners shall not be illuminated, except for indirect 
lighting associated with the main lamp of the light 
pole to which it is mounted.  

(7) Banners shall be permitted in the CBD for the 
advertising of permitted community events, seasonal 
and historic themes, or other such civic purposes; on 
collector level and higher classification within a 
residential subdivision; within master planned 
commercial subdivision. Such banners are limited to 
subdivision identification, or seasonal decorations and 
works of art by local artists. Such banners must be 
approved by the appropriate electric utility company 
in addition to receiving a permit from the city's 
planning and development department. 

 

CHAPTER 8: SIGNS  of 194 249



(g) Model Home Signs 

(1) The maximum sign area is eighteen (18) square feet. 

(2) The maximum height is six (6) feet.  

(3) One sign per cluster of model homes per builder.  

(4) A nameplate sign that identifies the individual product 
name is exempt if it does not exceed three (3) square 
feet nor three (3) feet in height.  

(5) Must be placed in front of a cluster of one or more 
model homes per builder.  

(6) All model home signage must be removed from the 
premises upon sale of the last model in the cluster. 

CHAPTER 8: SIGNS  of 195 249


	_10-07-20 - 1 Meeting Agenda
	20201001163913173
	3A - 1 Meeting Minutes for August 5, 2020
	3A - 2 August 5, 2020 Meeting Minutes
	3B - Staff Report 484 State Highway 71 - Cash Store
	3B - 1 Cash Store sign variance Staff Report
	Attachment 1 - Location Map
	Attachment 2 - Applicant Request Letter
	Attachment 3 - Requested Signs
	Attachment 4 - Article 3.20 - Signs effective 2018-to Nov 12 2019
	Attachment 5 - Property Owner Response
	Property Owner Response
	Ltr to City of Bastrop 09 30 2020

	Attachment 6 -  Chapter 8 - Signs B3 Code




